SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/16/2018 4:56 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No.	 95537	-9

Court of Appeals No. 49844-8-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN CHOQUER, a married man, as his sole and separate property,

Petitioner,

VS.

GUY WAY AND ZENAIDA WAY, husband and wife,

Respondents.

APPELLANT CHOQUER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOHN CHOQUER, Plaintiff Pro se 9213 NE Mason Creek Rd. Battle Ground, WA 98604 (503) 819-5115

ORIGINAL

filed via

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I	IDEN	TITY OF PETITIONER5
II	COU	RT OF APPEALS DECISION5
Ш	ISSUI	ES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW5
IV	STAT	EMENT OF THE CASE5
A. V	Respondents purchased Petitioner's second mortgage	
	A.	Acceptance of Review
	В.	Non-judicial foreclosure of agricultural land is void
	C.	Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Grp., LLC12
	D.	Petitioner's Land is Agricultural Land14
	E.	Equitable principals dictate that Petitioner's challenge should be allowed14
	F.	As a matter of law, the Property has never been sold15
	G.	Petitioner has not waived his right to object to the sale
	Н.	Res Judicata does not apply to this case16
	I.	Trial Court made no ruling concerning the character of the Property17
VI	CONC	LUSION19

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

STATE STATUTES

RCW CHAPTER 61.12

(1)	RCW 61.12.06014
	RCW CHAPTER 61.24
(3)	RCW 61.24.0309, 10, 11, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18
(4)	RCW 61.24.05014
	CASE LAW
1.	Bowman v. Webster, 44 Wn.2d 667, 670 (1954)16
2.	Brown v. Dept. of Commerce, 184 Wn.2d 509 (2015)11, 15
3.	Felton v. Citzens Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 101 Wn.2d 416, 679 P.2d 928 (1984)14
4.	Gardner v. First Heritage Bank, 175 Wn. App. 650 (2013)11, 15
5.	Lyons v. U.S. Bank, NA, 181 Wn.2d 775 (2014)17
4.	Mellor v. Chamberlin, 100 Wn.2d 643, 645-46, 673 P.2d 610 (1983)
7.	Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Grp., LLC, 177 Wn.2d 94, 106, 297 P.3d 677 (2013)5, 8, 11, 12, 13, 15
8	Seattle First National Bank v. Kawachi, 91 Wn.2d 223, 588 P.2d 725 (1978)17

9.	Deutsche Bank National Trust Co. v. Slotke, 192 Wn.2d 166 (2016
10.	State ex rel. Lemon v. Langlie, 45 Wn.2d 82, 273 P.2d 464 (1954)
	MISCELLANEOUS AUTHORITY
1.	3A N. Singer, Statutory Construction § 69.04 (4th ed. 1986)14
4.	RAP13.4(b)9
5.	Black's Law Dictionary (5th ed. 1979)15

·

~

I IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II of this Petition for Review ("Petition"). The decision terminated review.

II COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court issued and filed the unpublished opinion on January 17, 2018. A copy of the Opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-5.

III ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether Petitioner's property ("Property") was agricultural land on the day he purchased it and on the day it was sold at public auction.
- 2. If the Property was agricultural land on the day of purchase and on the day of sale at public auction, was the Court of Appeals entitled to ignore this Court's holding in *Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Grp., LLC*, and uphold the trial court's ruling that res judicate and/or collateral estoppel prevented Petitioner from arguing -- during the unlawful detainer proceeding that is the subject of this Petition ("UD 2") -- that the June 5, 2015 trustee's sale was void?

IV STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner purchased the Property for \$350,000 in June 2004. *CP*, at 7. The Property had been continuously utilized for agricultural purposes for more than 140 years on the day Petitioner purchased the Property. *CP*, at 13. Attached hereto as Appendix ("A")-6 thru A-7 is a true and correct

copy of a document that was filed in the Clark County Tax Assessor's Office on June 3, 2004. The document proves the Property was designated as open space, farm and agricultural land on the day Petitioner purchased the Property.

Petitioner began working to convert the property from a farm to a vineyard a few days after Petitioner purchased the Property. *CP*, at 8-9. Over several years, he shaped the land for drainage; installed a drainage system; groomed the Property's slope to most efficiently accommodate the drainage system; and began to install, and substantially completed the installation of, an irrigation system. *CP*, at 10. Petitioner also constructed 3 bio-swale ponds on the property. Clark County issued a permit for the construction of each of these ponds. *CP*, at 10.

After working for years to create the proper conditions for a vineyard on the Property, on March 6, 2009, Petitioner began planting the first grafted grapevines. *CP*, at 9. That year Petitioner planted more than 8000 grafted grapevines on 7 acres of vineyard-ready land. *CP*, at 9. Petitioner has been exclusively engaged in growing grapes on the land, without interruption, ever since. *CP*, at 17.

In both 2015 and 2016, before the Property was sold at public auction, Petitioner produced hundreds of cases of various types of wine.

¹ The trial court ruled Petitioner never completed installation of the irrigation system and that the land therefore was not agricultural land. Whether land has a completed irrigation system or not is not determinative of the land's vineyard status. Grapes can be – and in this case were – irrigated manually.

² Clark County Commissioner Tom Mielke helped me to obtain the necessary permits. A true and correct copy of Commissioner Mielke's Declaration is included in the Appendix at A-8 thru A-10.

Plaintiff was utilizing the Property as a vineyard on June 5, 2015. *CP*, at 10.

After producing small batches of wine – in the two-hundred-fifty to three-hundred-fifty case range -- in 2015 and 2016, Petitioner expected to have a full grape-production run in 2017. The wines produced were scheduled to have been sold to Vinesynergy, j. *CP*, at 10.

A. Respondents purchased Petitioner's second mortgage.

On Juned 5, 2015 the Property was valued at approximately \$600,000. The Property secured a first and second mortgage. The first mortgage was approximately \$200,000, and the second mortgage was approximately \$25,000. The second mortgagee foreclosed and the first mortgagee did not.

Respondents purchased the second mortgagee's interest in the Property for \$25,570. Petitioner remains obligated on the first mortgage. The first mortgage is current.

Shortly after submitting the best bid at the trustee's sale and being awarded the Property, Respondents brought an unlawful detainer action ("UD 1"). Petitioner defended against UD 1 by arguing that Respondents had not properly notified Petitioner's spouse of the pending action. The trial court held in favor of Respondents and issued an order for writ of restitution. Appellant timely appealed.

The Appellate Court affirmed the trial court's ruling in a decision issued on December 28, 2016.

Following the Appellate Court's December 28th decision,
Respondents initiated UD 2. In UD 2, Respondents sought the issuance of
a new order for writ of restitution.³ Because I was determined maintain
control of the Property,⁴ I continued to search for legal solutions.

In late November 2016, my research revealed this Court's ruling in Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Grp., LLC, 177 Wn.2d 94 (2013).

After discovering Schroeder, I filed a motion in UD 2 to Reverse the Trial Court's Decision and to Rescind the Trustee's Sale ("Motion").

Respondents' sale of the Property at public auction in violation of RCW 61.24.030(2) formed the basis for the motion. Respondents replied that the Motion was barred by res judicata and/or collateral estoppel.

After considering both positions, the trial court denied the Motion and granted Respondents' Motion for Writ of Restitution.

Petitioner timely appealed.

On January 17, 2018, the Appellate Court agreed with Respondents and the trial court. It held that "[b]ecause Choquer's claim could and should have been brought in his previous lawsuit, it is barred by res judicata." *Opinion*, at 1. It then affirmed the trial court's dismissal of my claim and awarded the Respondents attorney fees. *Id*.

³ The original order had expired.

⁴ The holder of the second mortgage foreclosed at the June 5, 2015 sale. I had paid that mortgage down from a little over \$100,000 to \$24,000 by June 5, 2015. Respondents bought this \$24,000 second position. I have never stopped paying the first mortgage, and the first mortgage is current.

In the Opinion, the Appellate Court took no position, and did not discuss, whether the Property was agricultural land.

Petitioner has timely sought this discretionary review.

V ARGUMENT

- A. Acceptance of Review authorized by RAP 13.4(b)(1).
 - 1. Appellate Court decision conflicts with Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Group, LLC.

The legal dispute is crystal clear.

By its ruling, the Appellate Court has taken the position that Petitioner's failure to assert the legal ineffectiveness of the June 5, 2015 sale *before* the trial court granted the writ of restitution – thereby, in effect, affirming the legality of the sale – prevented Petitioner from asserting the invalidity of the sale as a defense during UD 2. In other words, the trial court has the power to ratify a trustee's sale that a trustee conducts in violation of RCW 61.24.030(2).

Petitioner disagrees. RCW 61.24.030 is not a rights-creating statute. RCW 61.24.030's requirements are limitations on the power of the trustee to conduct trustee's sale. Whenever a court finds out that trustee has conducted a trustee's sale in violation of one or more of the subsections of RCW 61.24.030, whether it finds out before or after a sale occurs, it must invalidate that sale. A sale in violation of RCW 61.24.030 is void ab initio. The court does not have the power to override the will of the legislature by allowing a writ of restitution to issue following such a sale.

If, instead of being agricultural land, Petitioner's deed of trust ("DOT") did not contain a *power of sale* clause, the Property could not be the subject of a trustee's sale. RCW 61.24.030(1). Further, if Petitioner did not discover the DOT lacked a power of sale clause until after the Property had been sold at public auction by a trustee, Petitioner would still be entitled to have the sale reversed – or to receive the money equivalent of the Property. The sale would not be invalid from its inception because of some right I possess. The sale would be invalid from its inception because it violates RCW 61.24.030(1). And it would be void ab initio whether I asserted its invalidity before, during, or after the sale, or failed ever to assert its invalidity.

There can be no lawful trustee's sale in Washington unless the DOT contains a *power of sale* clause. *Id.* If Petitioner's DOT did not contain a power of sale clause, there would be no way to *make operative* the power to sell the Property. Thus, if the DOT did not contain a *power of sale* clause, a trustee's sale would also violate RCW 61.24.030(3). These violations could not be waived by Petitioner because they are not Petitioner's personal rights. They are statutory imperatives for a lawful trustee's sale. This Court correctly held to the same effect in *Schroeder*. The Appellate Court's ruling conflicts with this Court's holding in *Schroeder*, and therefore should be overturned.

2. Issue of substantial public interest.

Each of the nine requirements contained in RCW 61.24.030 must be considered in every trustee's sale conducted in Washington. Hence, the Appellate Court's ruling affects every trustee's sale.

This case is of substantial public interest.

B. Non-judicial foreclosure of agricultural land is void.

RCW 61.24.030 sets up a list of nine *requisites* for a lawful trustee's sale. A public action of a foreclosed upon property that does not comply with all nine requirements in RCW 61.24.030 is not a *trustee's sale*. Since a sale in compliance with the nine requirements is the only way to conduct a lawful trustee's sale in Washington, a sale conducted in violation of one of the nine requirements is a nullity. The sale never happened as far as Washington law is concerned. And if it never happened, how can it be the basis for issuance of a writ of restitution, notwithstanding any action that I take or do not take.

Under Washington law, agricultural land must be foreclosed judicially. *RCW 61.24.030(2)*; *Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Grp.*, *LLC*, 177 Wn.2d 94, 106, 297 P.3d 677 (2013). Land that is used primarily for agricultural purposes on both the day the deed of trust is granted and the day the land is scheduled to be sold must be foreclosed judicially. *Schroeder*, 177 Wn.2d at 105; *Brown v. Dept. of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509, 519, 359 P.3d 771 (2015); *Gardner v. First Heritage Bank*, 175 Wn. App. 650, 669-670 (2013).

C. Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Grp., LLC

In Schroeder, Excelsior Management Group ("Excelsior") <u>sold</u>

Schroeder's land non-judicially. Schroeder had always farmed the land.

Schroeder, 177 Wn.2d at 99. Nevertheless, Excelsior sold the land by public auction and claimed the sale was lawful. In support of its claim, Excelsior pointed out that Schroeder, in return for a \$425,000 loan, had settled a previous lawsuit against an earlier attempt to foreclose by signing a new deed of trust -- and a settlement agreement -- that indicated the land was not agricultural for purposes of non-judicial foreclosure. Id., at 100 and 106. Moreover, the settlement was memorialized in a stipulated trial court order, which, in relevant part, read as follows:

For valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, Schroeder, through his attorney, knowingly waives his right, pursuant to RCW 61.24.030(2) to judicial foreclosure on the subject property on the grounds it is used for agricultural purposes.

...

- 1. Schroeder has knowingly waived any and all right he may have to judicial foreclosure of the subject property on the grounds it is used for agricultural purposes,
- 2. Schroeder shall not be allowed to again allege that the subject property is used for agricultural purposes,
- 3. Any future deed of trust executed by Schroeder to the defendant, an associated company or assigns, need not be judicially foreclosed but may be foreclosed nonjudicially in accordance with RCW Chapter 61.24.

Schroeder, 177 Wn.2d at 100.6

⁵ Defendant herein has not signed a new deed of trust and has not signed a settlement agreement of any kind.

⁶ Petitioner has not signed a stipulation of any kind with Respondents.

Excelsior argued the parties had a right to agree by contract to a waiver of the judicial foreclosure requirement, and the parties had in fact entered into such an agreement. *Id*.

This Court disagreed with Excelsior. Despite the deed of trust, the contractual agreement, and the terms of the above-quoted stipulation, the Court held the sale was void if the property was agricultural land on the date Schroeder purchased the property and on the date of the trustee's sale. *Id.*, at 115.⁷

This Court supported its holding by sagely explaining that RCW 61.24.030 is not a "rights-or-privileges-creating statute." *Id.*, at 106.

Instead the provision sets up a list of requirements for a lawful trustee's sale. *Id.* If any one of the requirements is not met, the sale is void, not voidable. Since, to this Court, the land appeared to be agricultural land, you reversed the appellate and trial court decisions and remanded for further proceedings consistent with the Court's opinion. *Id.*, at 115.

Petitioner is asking the Court to review this case so that it can take the same position in this case that it took in Schroeder, and can order the same remedy.

⁷ In the case before this Court, the Property had been agricultural land for more than 140 years on the date Appellant purchased the Property, and the Property was agricultural land every day from the date Petitioner purchased it until the Property was sold at public auction on June 5, 2015.

⁸ See Lyons v. U.S. Bank, NA, 181 Wn.2d 775 (2014); Deutsche Bank National Trust Co. v. Slotke, 192 Wn.2d 166 (2016).

D. Petitioner's Land is Agricultural Land

Before Petitioner purchased the Property in 2004, the Property had been designated and used primarily as agricultural land for more than 140 years. And from the day Petitioner purchased the Property until June 5, 2015, the day the Property was sold non-judicially, Petitioner utilized the Property as agricultural land -- to sell hay, apple cider, and wine.

Pursuant to RCW 61.24.030(2), the Property was not subject to foreclosure sale without judicial supervision; and the June 5, 2015 sale was void at its inception. As such, legal title to the Property has never legally passed.

E. Equitable principals dictate that Petitioner's challenge should be allowed.

Statutes that allow foreclosure under a power of sale clause contained in a deed of trust ("DOT") are strictly construed against the exercise of that power⁹ because, compared to *mortgage* foreclosure requirements, DTA procedures make it far easier for lender's to forefeit the borrower's interest in the real property that secures a loan. The DTA also revokes the right of redemption after sale guaranteed by a mortgage foreclosure (RCW 61.24.050); deprives the borrower of the right to an upset price (RCW 61.12.060); and eliminates the homestead right. *Felton v. Citizens Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n,* 101 Wn.2d 416, 679 P.2d 928 (1984). These losses of borrower rights should not be compounded by liberal construction of the DTA for the benefit of lenders.

⁹ 3A N. Singer, Statutory Construction § 69.04 (4th ed. 1986).

Since the judiciary is not involved in DOT foreclosures, only the words of the DTA stand between the borrower and a lender that is eager to foreclose. Unless this Court – and all other Washington courts – stand as bulwarks against lender's unlawful actions by strictly construing the DTA, the DTA's protections are meaningless.

F. As a matter of law, the Property has never been sold.

Land which is used primarily for agricultural purposes must be foreclosed judicially. *RCW* 61.24.030(2); *Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Grp., LLC,* 177 Wn.2d 94, 106, 297 P.3d 677 (2013); *Brown*v. Dept. of Commerce, 184 Wn.2d 509, 519, 359 P.3d 771 (2015); *Gardner v. First Heritage Bank,* 175 Wn. App. 650, 669-670 (2013).

Thus, under the terms of the DTA, the sale of agricultural land non-judicially is not a sale at all. As far as the DTA is concerned, the sale has never occurred. Moreover, even if the trustee claims to have faithfully fulfilled all the DTA's requirements, the sale is still void. *Schroeder,* 177 Wn.2d at 106-107. That is, the sale has no legal force or effect. *See*BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1411 (5th ed. 1979).

In the absence of a legal sale, judicial or non-judicial, the concepts of res judicata and collateral estoppel have no application. Waiver also does not apply.

G. Petitioner has not waived his right to object to the sale.

Waiver does not apply in this case.

Waiver is the voluntary relinquishment of a known right. The key to the concept is that the existence of the right must be known by the person who waives it. *Bowman v. Webster*, 44 Wn.2d 667, 670 (1954). Petitioner was not aware of the requirements of RCW 61.24.030(2) until long after the unlawful sale occurred. And even if Petitioner had been aware of the requirements and had failed to act, Petitioner's awareness and failure to act would not have made a difference.

The requirements of RCW 61.24.030 do not create rights in Petitioner. RCW 61.24.030 is not a rights-creating statute. Instead, the requirements of RCW 61.24.030 are limitations on the power of the trustee to conduct a lawful trustee's sale. If the trustee violates any one of those nine requirements in conducting a trustee's sale, he conducts the sale without legal authority.

When a trustee acts without statutory authority, his actions are without legal effect because his power to sell the property emanates directly and solely from the statute. Moreover, since the actions are legally ineffective, Petitioner is free to point out the legal ineffectiveness of the trustee's actions at any point in time. Petitioner cannot waive legal requirements.

H. Res Judicata does not apply to this case.

"In Washington res judicata applies when a prior judgment has a concurrence of identity in four respects with a subsequent action. *Id.*, at 108. There must be identity of (1) subject matter; (2) cause of action; (3)

persons and parties; and (4) the quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made. *Mellor v. Chamberlin*, 100 Wn.2d 643, 645-46, 673 P.2d 610 (1983) (citing *Seattle First National Bank v. Kawachi*, 91 Wn.2d 223, 588 P.2d 725 (1978). This Court does not have to evaluate any one of the four elements because it is undisputed that there is *no prior judgment* regarding the propriety or impropriety of foreclosing on Appellant's land non-judicially. Not only was this issue [the issue of whether the land could lawfully be foreclosed non-judicially] not previously raised within an action to contest the foreclosure, but it was also not previously raised in connection with the unlawful detainer action. The trial court precluded Petitioner from raising the issue as a defense to the second unlawful detainer action. *CP*, at 25.

I. Trial Court made no ruling concerning the character of the Property.

The trial court precluded Petitioner from raising the RCW 61.24.030(2) issue as a defense during UD 2 because (1) Petitioner had not raised the issue in a lawsuit prior to the sale, and (2) Petitioner had not raised the issue in the first unlawful detainer action. *Reply*, at 9. But the trial court did not rule that the Property was not agricultural land. *Id.* On this subject – the subject of whether the Property was agricultural land — the lower court made the following observations:

Even if Mr. Choquer was not precluded from raising the issue as a defense at this time, it appears based on the information contained in the Defendants' Declarations that while Mr. Choquer may have intended to develop a vineyard on the subject property, the necessary irrigation

system was never completed and wine production never occurred. Based on the uncontested applicability of RCW 59.12, the presence of a primary residence on the subject property that has allegedly even been improved by Mr. Choquer, and the absence of a primary agricultural use of the subject property, the property would not meet the RCW 61.24 definition of being primarily used for agricultural purposes.

CP, at 25.

The presence or absence of an irrigation system does not determine whether land is agricultural land under the DTA. Additionally, the fact that there is a residence on the Property is irrelevant to a determination of whether the land is agricultural. Land can contain an irrigation system and not be agricultural land; and agricultural and can lack an irrigation system. And I am certain that every farmer that lives on the land he farms would be astonished to learn that his residence prevents the farm from being agricultural land.

Wholly apart from these facts, please notice that the trial court's observation is in the conditional: "if Mr. Choquer was not precluded from raising the issue as a defense at this time the property would not meet the RCW 61.24 definition of being primarily used for agricultural purposes." But the trial court <u>did preclude</u> Petitioner from raising the RCW 61.24.030(2) issue as a defense.

The court decided Appellant's RCW 61.24.030(2)-violation claim by *refusing to consider the merits of that claim*. The undeniable result of that refusal is that the court's observations regarding the merits of the claim, though interesting, were not necessary to its decision of the claim.

Thus, by definition, the trial court's observations about characteristics of the Property were dictum. *State ex rel. Lemon v. Langlie*, 45 Wn.2d 82, 89, 273 P.2d 464 (1954).

VI CONCLUSION

For the reasons listed and briefly discussed herein above, the Court should review the Appellate Court's decision in this case.

DATED this 16th day of February, 2018.

Respectfully submitted, JOHN CHOQUER

John Choquer, Petitioner Pro se