FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/3/2018 1:48 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 95537-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN CHOQUER, Petitioner

v.

GUY WAY AND ZENAIDA WAY, Respondent

RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Quinn H. Posner, WSBA #31463

Attorneys for Respondents

POSNER LAW OFFFICE, PC 532 NE 3rd Ave, #105 Camas, WA 98607

(360) 524-4767 (360) 326-1913 Facsimile

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS.

Guy Way and Zenaida Way, husband and wife and Respondents, respectfully requests this court deny Petitioner John Choquer's Motion for Discretionary Review.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Washington State Court of Appeals Division II's decision in this matter conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court when it ruled the Doctrine of Res Judicata bars Petitioner from bringing this appeal when the present argument could have been litigated previously?
- 2. Should this Court consider Petitioner's remaining arguments, were the requisites to the trustee sale required by RCW 61.24.030 satisfied for the June 5, 2015 trustee sale to be valid when the deed of trust being non-judicially foreclosed stated the Property is not used principally for agricultural or farming purposes?
- B. Should this Court consider Petitioner's remaining arguments, did the Superior Court abuse its discretion when it ruled absence of presence of primary agricultural use of the subject property when there was no evidence the Subject Property was being use for agricultural purposes?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The real property which is the subject of the Superior Court unlawful detainer action and this appeal is located in Clark County and is described with reasonable certainty as follows: 9213 NE Mason Creek

Road, Battle Ground, WA 98604 (hereinafter "Subject Property").

On or about July 20, 2015, a trust deed was recorded in Respondents' favor following Respondents' purchase of the premises at foreclosure sale that was executed against Petitioner as the previous owners of the premises. Following the foreclosure sale and recording of the Trustee's Deed, Petitioner remained in possession of the premises for a period in excess of twenty (20) days in derogation of RCW 61.24.060. Therefore, Respondents initiated an unlawful detainer proceeding against Petitioner upon which Respondents ultimately prevailed and the Superior Court granted Respondents an Order for Writ of Restitution. Subsequently, Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal with the Superior Court and the first appeal in this case was accepted by the Court of Appeals -Division II under No. 48191-0-II, Guy Way and Zenaida Way v. John Choquer. In that appeal, Petitioner argued service was not made upon his wife who was a non-occupant at the time and as a result, the underlying unlawful detainer necessarily failed. The above facts have been made part of the record in the above referenced cause number and in Division II Court of Appeals No. 49844-8-II detailed below and Respondent references the same.

Following a lengthy period of time, this Court of Appeals affirmed

the Superior Court in its December 28, 2016 unpublished opinion, *Guy Way and Zenaida Way v. John Choquer, et al,* No. 48191-0-II. As a result, Respondent cited the matter back before Judge Vanderwood of the Clark County Superior Court on January 9, 2017 for an Order for Writ of Restitution and Release of Appellate Bond in compliance with Division II's opinion. RP 1:8. It was at that hearing that Petitioner, for the first time, brought up its argument in the form of a Motion to Reverse Trial Court's Decision, Rescind Trustee's Sale, and Restore Ownership to Defendant. RP 3:3; CP 12. After careful consideration of the arguments of the parties and the evidence provided by Petitioner, Judge Vanderwood of the Clark County Superior Court denied Petitioner's motion. CP 24.

Subsequently, on January 12, 2017, Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal with the Washington State Court of Appeals Division II under cause No. 49844-8-II. In that appeal, Petitioner made the same argument offered here and offered documents and argument not part of the Superior Court record. Therefore, the Court of Appeals refused to consider Petitioner's arguments and agreed with Respondents that Res Judicata barred Petitioner's claim. The above facts are all part of the record contained within No. 49844-8-II.

///

III. ARGUMENT

A. Res Judicata is the only issue for review and bars Petitioner from raising any further claims.

While at the Court of Appeals, Petitioner attempted to argue his new claims as he does here. Since the Court of Appeals only ruled Petitioner's arguments were barred by res judicata and refused to consider Petitioner's other arguments, that is the only issue before this court. Petitioner's remaining arguments should be disregarded.

Generally speaking, res judicata bars the relitigation of claims and issues that were litigated or could have been litigated in a prior action.

Loveridge v. Fred Meyer. Inc., 125 Wn.2d 759, 763, 887 P.2d 898 (1995); see In re Marriage of Aldrich, 72 Wn. App. 132, 138, 864 P.2d 388 (1993) (res judicata operates to preclude collateral attack on a final decision).

"When res judicata is used to mean claim preclusion, it encompasses the idea that when the parties to two successive proceedings are the same, and the prior proceeding culminated in a final judgment, a matter may not be relitigated, or even litigated for the first time, if it could have been raised, and in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have been raised, in the prior proceeding." Kelly-Hansen v. Kelly-Hansen, 87 Wn. App. 320, 328-29, 941 P.2d 1108 (1997)(emphasis added). It has been held that a matter should have been raised and decided earlier if it is merely an

alternate theory of recovery, or an alternate remedy." *Id*, 87 Wn. App. at 331 (compiling Washington Supreme Court cases); see also *Sound Built Homes. Inc. v. Windermere Real Estate/South. Inc*, 118 Wn. App. 617, 631-32, 72 P.3d 788 (2003) (summarizing the application of res judicata by Washington courts and rejecting the position "that a party can bring as many actions as he or she has substantive legal theories, even if all theories involve the same facts, the same evidence, and the same transaction").

In Washington, these principles have been reduced to a four-part test. Res judicata applies "where a prior final judgment is identical to the challenged action in (1) subject matter, (2) cause of action, (3) persons and parties, and (4) the quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made." Lvnn v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 130 Wn. App. 829, 836, 125 P.3d 202 (2005) (quoting Loveridge, 125 Wn.2d at 763).

First, the subject matter is identical to the earlier litigation. It involves the proper possession of the property resulting from Respondent's purchase of the Subject Premises and commencement of an unlawful detainer claim against Petitioner. In that litigation, Petitioner could easily have argued the validity of the sale during its case in chief or during the *first* appeal, but it failed to do so. It must not now be allowed an additional bite at the apple. In the appeal that is subject to the petition for

discretionary review, Petitioner stated he had only recently become aware of the potential defense, but Petitioner elected to remain pro se and not hire legal representation. Petitioner did so at his peril and potential lack of understanding of the law.

Second, the cause of action is identical as this stems from the original unlawful detainer. That has not changed.

Third, the persons and parties are identical. No parties have changed since the original filing of the Complaint for Unlawful Detainer.

Fourth, the quality of the person remains unchanged.

The elements of res judicata are met. The Washington State

Court of Appeals Division II agreed the elements were met. The Court of

Appeals did render an opinion on conflict with any Supreme Court

decision, nor does Petitioner provide any citation to the contrary.

B. Should this Court consider Petitioner's remaining arguments, the requirements of RCW 61.24.030 have been satisfied.

RCW 61.24 provides the method for non-judicial foreclosure of a deed of trust. The chapter was designed by the Legislature to avoid costly, time-consuming judicial foreclosure proceedings, *Peoples Nat'l Bank v. Ostrander*, 6 Wn. App. 28, 491 P.2d 1058 (1971), and also to "provide an adequate opportunity [or notice] for interested parties to prevent wrongful

foreclosure." Savings Bank of Puget Sound v. Mink, 49 Wn. App. 204, 207, 741 P.2d 1043 (1987) (citing Cox v. Helenius, 103 Wn.2d 383, 387, 693 P.2d 683 (1985).

In its opening brief, Appellant assigns error to the Superior Court by claiming the June 5, 2015 trustee sale violated RCW 61.24.030(2). In support of its argument, Appellant claims, through his own Declaration only, that the land has merely been primarily used for agricultural purposes. However, this analysis is flawed.

RCW 61.24.030(2) provides:

"It shall be requisite to a trustee's sale:

...(2) That the deed of trust contains a statement that the real property conveyed is not used principally for agricultural purposes;"

RCW 61.24.030(2) (emphasis added)

RCW 61.24.030(2) is clear on its face that the appropriate analysis requires examination of the Deed of Trust to determine if it contains language stating the Subject Property is not used principally for agricultural purposes. Attached as Exhibit 1 to the Appendix A is a certified copy of the original Washington Line of Credit Trust Deed that is the subject of this dispute. Paragraph 21 clearly states the following:

"21. Use of Property. You covenant that the Property is not used principally for agricultural or farming purposes."

Ex. 1, pg 7. (emphasis added)

The Trust Deed is clear that Appellant agreed that the Subject Property would not be used for agricultural purposes. He can not now argue the opposite in an effort to void the 2015 trustee sale. Further, RCW 61.24.030(2) merely requires the Trust Deed to contain a statement that the Subject Property is not used principally for agricultural purposes. Such a statement is contained within the Trust Deed. The requirements of RCW 61.24 are satisfied.

C. Should this Court consider Petitioner's remaining

arguments, the Superior Court did not abuse its discretion

when it ruled absence of presence of primary agricultural

use of the subject property.

In a footnote to its Order Denying Defendant's Motion Reverse
Trial Court's Decision and Rescind Trustee's Sale, the Superior Court
held the following:

Even if Mr. Choquer was not precluded from raising the issue as a defense at this time, it appears based on the information contained in the Defendants' Declarations that while Mr. Choquer may have intended to develop a vineyard on the subject property, the necessary irrigation system was never completed and wine production never occurred. Based on the uncontested applicability of RCW 59.12, the presence of a primary residence on the subject

property that has allegedly even been improved by Mr. Choquer, and the absence of a primary agricultural use of the subject property, the property would not meet the RCW 61.24 definition of being primarily used for agricultural purposes.

CP 25.

Simply, Appellant failed to offer any concrete evidence aside from his own self-serving testimony to support his notion that the land was primarily agricultural in nature. Further examination of Appellants

Declaration in Support of Motion to Reverse Trial Court Ruling demonstrates Appellant knew for "the past few months" that agricultural land may not be foreclosed upon non-judicially, yet he still failed to produce any evidence aside from self-serving testimony. CP 10:21.

The Superior Court did not abuse its discretion in finding the property would not meet the definition of being primarily used for agricultural purposes.

IV. REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS.

Respondent requests this Court grant attorney fees and costs pursuant to RAP 18.1 and RCW 4.84.185. RCW 4.84.185 states, in pertinent part:

In any civil action, the court having jurisdiction may, upon written findings by the judge that the action, counterclaim, cross-claim, third party claim, or defense was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause, require the nonprevailing party to pay the prevailing party the reasonable expenses, including fees of attorneys, incurred in opposing such action, counterclaim, crossclaim, third party claim, or defense...The judge shall consider all evidence presented at the time of the motion to determine whether the position of the nonprevailing party was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause...

RCW 4.84.185

Here, it is clear that Petitioner has advanced a frivolous appeal without reasonable cause. From bringing the motion before the Superior Court in the manner in which he did, to the current record lacking any substantial support to Petitioner's claims, Petitioner's tactics have forced Respondent to incur fees and costs. Further, simple review of the Trust Deed would have demonstrated the fatal nature of the appeal to Petitioner. Petitioner failed to take that basic care and has demonstrated this entire appeal to be frivolous. Therefore, Respondent requests its attorney fees and costs pursuant to RAP 18.1.

V. CONCLUSION

The doctrine of res judicata bars Petitioner's argument. Second, RCW 61.24.030(2) requires the Trust Deed to contain a statement that the Subject Property is not used principally for agricultural purposes. The Trust Deed in question complied with that requirement. Further, there was no evidence of record supporting Petitioner's claim that the Subject Property was agricultural land as defined by law. Therefore, Respondent